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PRELIMINARY STATEMENT 

The Federal Trade Commission ("the Commission" or "FTC"), "having reason to believe 

that Respondent Laboratory Corporation of America and Laboratory Corporation of America 

Holdings (collectively "LabCorp") acquired substantially all the business assets of Westcliff 

Medical Laboratories, Inc. ("Westcliff'), in violation of Section 5 of the Federal Trade Commission 

Act, as amended, [("FTC Act")] 15 U.S.c. § 45 [(2006)], and Section 7 of the Clayton Act, as 

amended, 15 U.S.C. § 18 [(2006)], and it appearing to the Commission that a proceeding by it in 

respect thereof would be in the public interest," issued an administrative complaint against LabCorp 

on November 30,2010. Lab. Corp. of Am. Holdings, Docket No. 9345. The action to adjudicate 

the legality of the Westcliff acquisition is now ongoing, and the administrative trial is set to 

commence on May 2, 2011. 

The competitive concerns raised by this acquisition are significant. Three firms dominate 

the supply of clinical laboratory services to physician groups in Southern California. The two 

largest are Quest Diagnostics, Inc. ("Quest"), a national firm with all share in this market, and 

the Defendant, LabCorp, another national firm, with anll market share. Westcliff, a California 

fum with nearly $100 million in revenue in 2009, is third with anll share of the relevant market. 

Fringe fums, none with a market share that reachesll, comprise the remainder of the market. The 

acquisition therefore effectively represents a merger to duopoly. 

The Commission comes before this Court with an ancillary action under the specific 

authority of Section 13(b) of the FTC Act, 15 U.S.C. § 53(b), seeking temporary and preliminary 

relief to preserve the status quo while the FTC performs its statutorily-prescribed adjudicative 

function. Section 13(b) was enacted explicitly to preserve the Commission's ability to order 

effective, ultimate reliefupon completion of its administrative proceedings. H.R. Rep. No. 93-624, 

r-VI 111""'\1.,... t\ r"\A""""'" " .. 
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at 31 (1973), reprinted in 1973 U.S.C.C.A.N. 2523; see FTC v. Whole Foods Mkt., Inc., 548 F.3d 

1028, 1042 (D.C. Cir. 2008) (Tatel, 1., concurring in judgment) ("[T)he FTC an expert agency 

acting on the public's behalf - should be able to obtain injunctive relief more readily than private 

parties ... ."); FTC v. H.J Heinz Co., 246 F.3d 708, 714 (D.C. Cir. 2001). The "only purpose of 

a proceeding under [Section 13(b)] is to preserve the status quo until FTC can perform its function." 

FTCv. Food Town Stores, Inc., 539 F.2d 1339,1342 (4thCir. 1976); accord Whole Foods, 548 FJd 

at 1035 (Brown, J.); id. at 1050 (Tatel, J., concurring in judgment) . 

. Under Section 13(b), preliminary relief is available to the Commission under "a unique 

'public interest' standard ... rather than the more stringent, traditional 'equity' standard for 

injunctive relief." FTCv. Exxon Corp., 636 F.2d 1336, 1343 (D.C. Cir. 1980) (quoting 15 U.S.C. 

§ 53(b». Specifically, Section 13(b) authorizes preliminary relief "[u]pon a proper showing that, 

weighing the equities and considering the Commission's likelihood of ultimate success, such action 

shall be in the public interest." 15.U.S.C. § 53(b). As the Court of Appeals for this Circuit has 

emphasized, a strong presumption in favor of the issuance of a preliminary injunction arises when 

the Commission raises "questions going to the merits so serious, substantial, difficult and doubtful 

as to make them fair ground for thorough investigation, study, deliberation and determination by the 

FTC in the first instance." Heinz, 246 F.3d at 714-15. On the facts of this case, the Commission 

clearly meets this standard. 

This transaction raises many "serious, substantial" questions appropriate for determination 

in a FTC administrative trial. Post-merger market shares in the range produced by the acquisition 

are sufficient to create a presumption that the transaction will substantially lessen competition. I 

I The law dict~tes that a transaction will be presumed to lessen competition where the FTC can 
show that the acquisition will lead to undue concentration in the market for a particular product in a 
particular geographic area. United States v. Phila. Nat" Bank, 374 U.S. 321, 363 (1963). 

2 
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Here, however, the shares actually understate the competitive concerns raised by the elimination of 

an independent Westcliff, as Westcliffhas been far more successful winning in contracts than its 

market share implies. According to LabCorp's own analysis, "Over the past three years WestcliJJ 

has become very aggressive in the marketplace under bidding many of the Quest and LabCorp 

contracts which has in turn held California capitation rates to low levels."z Once the deal is 

completed, LabCorp's plans are clear: "[P]erhaps in 2011 we could go back and renegotiate rates 

... as that would only leave us and Quest as viable options.,,3 Nor will new entrants provide 

additional competition that might protect consumers from higher prices. Notably, LabCorp's and 

Westcliff's documents, created in the ordinary course of business, are devoid of concern that new 

entry would frustrate the merged firm's ability to negotiate higher prices. To the contrary, they 

discuss the high barriers to entry and the scale advantages LabCorp and Westcliffhave over smaller, 

local laboratories. These admissions in contemporaneous business documents, together with the 

wealth of other evidence available in this case, clearly establish that the acquisitiQn may 

substantially lessen competition for Southern California physician groups, the vast majority of which 

would be left with, as LabCorp admits, only two "viable options." 

LabCorp can offer no defenses that would justit)t the deal. LabCorp has argued to the 

Commission that cost savings it anticipates from the trarisactionamount to efficiencies that outweigh 

any competitive harm. These savings are not cognizable.efficiencies, however, because they are 

overstated, speCUlative, not uniquely a product of the merger, and, ultimately, unlikely to benefit 

consumers. LabCorp has also asserted that Westcliff is a "failing firm" within the meaning of the 

antitrust laws, and therefore its acquisition is exempt from scrutiny, but the facts do not support this 

2 PX 1030 at 2 (emphasis added). 

3 PX 1040 (emphasis added). 

3 
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assertion because LabCorp was not, as it would have to be, the "only available purchaser" for 

Westcliff. 

Because LabCorp's acquisition of Westcliff raises "serious, substantial" questions 

concerning its competitive impact, the Commission asks the Court to issue an order to preserve 

Westcliff as an independent business, so that effective relief can be ordered, if appropriate, at the 

end of the FTC's administrative trial on the merits. 

RELIEF REQUESTED 

The Commission's ability to obtain effective relief should it prevail in the plenary trial has 

been preserved for the past five months by a hold separate agreement LabCorp entered into with the 

Commission.4 Under this agreement, a monitor oversees Westcliffs day-to-day operations to assure 

its continued independence and competitive viability. This agreement expires on December 3,2010, 

at which time LabCorp intends to integrate Westcliff into its network, destroying forever W estcliff s 

independent competitive presence. The FTC requests that this Court issue an order that would keep 

this agreement in place so that effective relief will be available if the Commission ultimately 

concludes, after the administrative trial on the merits, that the transaction violates Section 5 of the 

FTC Act and Section 7 of the Clayton Act A proposed order based on the current hold separate 

agreement accompanies this motion and is the preliminary relief sought in this ancillary action. 

STATEMENT OF THE CASE 

A. Clinical Laboratory Services and the Delegated Managed Care Model 

Clinical laboratory tests are used to detect and evaluate the presence, concentrations, or 

composition of chemical, biological; or cellular components in specimens of human blood, tissue, 

or other fluids. These tests are ordered by physicians, who rely on them to diagnose, monitor, and 

4 PX 0006. 

4 
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treat their patients and are critical to the delivery of quality healthcare. There is no functional 

substitute for clinical laboratory testing services. Under the traditional U. S. health insurance system, 

clinical laboratory testing is paid for by the patient's insurance company. In Southern California, 

however, where LabCorp and Westcliff primarily compete, physician groups,s rather than the 

insurance companies, purchase clinical laboratory services directly from independent commercial 

laboratories for patients covered by health maintenance organization ("HMO") plans. This 

delegated managed care model is common in California/ where physicians group together into 

organizations to accept "capitation" - a fixed payment per member, per month - from HMO health 

plans as prospective reimbursement for caring for the HMOs' enrollees. ·In other words, HMOs 

delegate the financial responsibility (and risk of profit or loss) for providing patient healthcare to 

the physician groups. 

In order to mitigate the risk associated with uncertain patient utilization of ancillary services, 

physician groups almost always subcontract clinical laboratory services on. a capitated basis. 

Capitated contracts pennit the physician groups to re-assign the delegated risk to laboratory service 

vendors, streamline their administrative processes and minimize their laboratory expenditures 

because the contracts are universally 0 ffered at deeply discounted prices in exchange for exclusivity. 

Because capitation is the predominant form of contracting for physician group business, the ability 

to offer capitated contracts is a critical attribute for clinical laboratories attempting to serve 

5 The term "physician group" as used herein refers to any entity that provides. or through which 
its member physicians contract to provide. healthcare services to enrollees of-health maintenance 
organization ("HMO") health plans. including a group medical practice. independent practice association 
(sometimes referred to as independent physician association) ("IPA"), physician service organization. 
management service organization. medical foundation, or physician/hospital organization. 

6 Managed care is a common model for delivering healthcare in California. PX 0004 at 6 (stating 
that as of 2009, 45% of lives in California are covered HMO health plans and of those, 95% are 
delegated to physician groups); see 

5 
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physician groupS.1 

B. Westcliff's Emergence as a Maverick Competitor 

III June 2006, Parthenon Capital Partners ("Parthenon"), a private equity company, purchased 

Westcliff, which had a reputation for providing high-quality fee-for-service testing for forty years, 

primarily in Orange County, California. As part of the deal, Parthenon combined Westclitrwith 

Health Line Clinical Laboratories ("Health Line"), known as an aggressive price-cutter, primarily 

in Los Angeles County. With the merger, Westcliff reached the scale necessary to begin competing 

for and winning capitated physician group business. Over the next eighteen months, it cemented 

its position as an effective alternative to the two national laboratories by expanding sales and 

acquiring several smaller clinical laboratories, including Clinical Pathology laboratories, through 

which it added pathology testing capabilities. The merger and subsequent acquisitions gave 

Westcliff the scale that it needed to compete aggressively, in particular for capitated contracts with 

physician groups, which was a major part of its. growth strategy. In addition to the work generated 

by these capitated contracts, tbis business gave Westcliff the opportunity to secure referrals to 

conduct testing for the non-HMO patients of the IP A' s physicians. This business is known as "puIl-

through" business, and it is more lucrative because it is paid for by third parties on a fee-for-service 

basis, not a capitated basis. g This combination of pull-through and capitated revenues is a proven. 

1 In addition. physician groups require laboratory services vendors to offer: (1) convenient 
patient service centers ("PSCs") where blood and other samples can be provided by patients for testing; 
(2) data associated with the provision of laboratory services, including test results. provided 
electronically; (3) accurate. high quality tests; and (4) rapid tum around times for tests, which typically 
require accessible testing facilities and couriers to get samples to these facilities promptly. 

x The tests that constitute "pull-through" are ordered by independent physicians belonging to the 
physician group with which the laboratory services vendor has a capitated contract, and are not paid for 
by the physician group. but by the individual patient's health plan (e.g .. Blue Shield). Thus, pull-through 
does not originate with the pbysician group itself but rather with an individual physician. 

6 



Case 8:10-ap-01564-TA    Doc 31-2    Filed 12/02/10    Entered 12/02/10 18:26:02    Desc
 Exhibit 2 [Memorandum in Support of FTC]    part 1    Page 13 of 24

business model that has been the basis for the success of LabCorp and Quest.? The strategy was 

successful for Westcliffas well, and its testing volume grew from approximately 6,600 accessions 

per day in 2007 to over 10,000 accessions per day in 2009.10 Revenues also increased from $78 

million in 2007 to $97.7 million in 2009. 11 

Westc1iffs growth came almost entirely from the market leaders, LabCorp and Quest. To 

wrest business from these entrenched competitors, Westcliff cut prices on capitated contracts while 

offering superior service. In this pursuit, it was extremely successful. According to LabCorp's own 

estimates, Westcliff and LabCorp were solicited to bid, or bid on, approximately 43 capitated 

physician group contracts in Southern California that were awarded between May 2007 and October 

2010; Westcliffbid on 23 of these and won 21.12 

C. The Acquisition of West cliff by LabCorp 

While Westcliff's growth was impressive by any measure, it also had been saddled with an 

enormous debt load by Parthenon. By late 2009, Westcliff W1l$ unable to meet its repayment 

obligations on that debt, and its creditors sought to put the company up for sale. Bids were solicited 

for the purchase of Westcliff, and a number of letters of intent were received from interested 

9 While LabCorp dismisses capitated contracts as representing only a small portion of its 
revenue. Ine reality is that it represents approximately 40% of its volume, PX 1149, and the attendant 
pull-through fee-for-service business that these contracts a substantial of 

10 An accession is roughly equivalent to a patient encounter or to a requisition of testing to be 
performed. An accession can include multiple tests arising from a single encounter with a patient. 

PX 1008 at 12 ("Westcliffhas built strong relationships with [PAs and has demonstrated the 
ability to drive profitability .... The Company continues to expand its presence with IPAs and expects to 
drive continued growth and profitability .... This has allowed Westcliff to add 350 
capitated lives from September 2007 • January 2009."). 

11-12_ 
7 
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purchasers. LabCorp, which had evaluated Westcliff as a strategic acquisition target months before, 

stepped in with a preemptive bid of$57.5 million. One ofthe key conditions ofLabCorp's proposal 

to acquire Westc1iff was that the acquisition be conducted through the bankruptcy reorganization 

process to "manage" the claims ofunsecurcd creditors, with LabCorp as the "stalking horse" bidder. 

As required by the asset purchase agreement, Westcliff filed for bankruptcy within two days of 

signing the agreement, and a hearing was held in the Bankruptcy Court on June 3 in which the assets 

were awarded to LabCorp. 

FTC staff became aware of this transaction just one day before the bankruptcy hearing and 

immediately notified LabCorp of staffs potential antitrust concerns regarding the deal. The 

following day, LabCorp solicited a letter from FTC staff that it claimed would assist LabCorp in 

securing a delay in closing the transaction lJ and committed to FTC staff that it would not close 

before June 18, 20 I 0, and would cooperate with a preliminary investigation. At the outset, LabCorp 

and Westcliff sougbt to .shield the transaction from antitrust review by invoking the "failing 

company" defense, a critical element of which is that good faith efforts be made to seek reasonable, 

alternative purchasers. As it became evident that the sale process had foreclosed competitively 

preferable purchasers from submitting lower, but reasonable, alternative offers, Westcliff petitioned 

the bankruptcy court to conduct a new auction, this time with no minimum price, at the suggestion 

ofFTe staff. The bankruptcy court set the new auction tor June 18, and several finns were prepared 

to submit proposals. LabCorp, however. closed its acquisition of Westcliff on June 16,2010, in 

violation of its agreement with the FTC, cutting short the new auction process and jeopardizing the 

Commission's ability to obtain effective relief. 

IJ See PX 1150. 
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ARGUMENT 

The sole question before the Court is whether it is in the public interest to order LabCorp to 

preserve and maintain Westdiff separately until the FTC has concluded its ongoing administrative 

trial to detennine the lawfulness of Lab Corp's acquisition of West cliff. The answer is plainly yes. 

I. UNDER SECTION 13(b) OF THE FTC ACT, PRELIMINARY RELIEF IS 
WARRANTED WHENEVER IT IS IN "THE PUBLIC INTEREST". 

Section 13(b) authorizes this Court to issue a preliminary injunction if it is in the public 

interest. Heinz, 246 F.3d at 714. The detennination of whether a preliminary injunction is in the 

public interest requires an assessment of two independent factors: (1) the FTC's likelihood of 

success on the merits and (2) the public equities. The two factors are assessed on a sliding scale -

that is, the greater the showing that the public equities favor a preliminary injunction, the lower the 

FTC's burden on the likelihood of success on the merits (and vice versa). Whole Foods, 548 F.3d 

at 1035 (Brown, J.); see Heinz, 246 F.3d at 726; FTC v. Elders Grain,Illc., 868 F.2d 90 1,903 (7th 

Cir. 1989) (Posner, J.). The equities will otten weigh in favor of the FTC, however, since "'the 

public interest in effective enforcement of the antitrust laws' was Congress's specific' public equity 

consideration' in enacting" Section 13(b). Whole Foods, 548 F.3dat 1035 (Brown, J.)(citingHeinz, 

246 F.3d at 726); FTC v. Univ. Health, Inc., 938 F.2d 1206, 1225 (lIth Cir. 1991). 

In applying the 13(b) standard, the Court of Appeals for this Circuit has found that the 

Commission "will usually be able to obtain a preliminary injunction blocking a merger by 'rais[ing) 

questions going to the merits so serious, substantial. difficult(,] and doubtful as to make them fair 

ground for thorough investigation. '" Whole Foods, 548 F.3d at 1035 (Brown, J.) (quoting Heinz, 

246 F.3d at 714-15). Where there are such questions, the FTC is "entitled to a presumption against 

the merger on the merits." and.therefore "does not need detailed evidence of anticompetitive effect 

9 
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at th[ e] preliminary phase." Id. (citing Elders Grain, 868 F.2d at 906). The FTC is not required to 

prove the merits, Le., that the challenged merger would in fact lessen competition in violation of 

Section 7 of the Clayton Act at this stage, as that determination is reserved for the plenary 

administrative trial. Id. (citing Food Town, 539 F.2d at 1342); Heinz, 246 F.3d at 714 (citing FTC 

v. Staples, Inc., 970 F. Supp. 1066, 1071 (D.D.C. 1997». 

Once the FTC has established "a presumption in favor of preliminary injunctive relief," the 

presumption can only be overcome if the defendant shows that the equities weigh in favor of the 

merger. Whole Foods, 548 F.3d at 1035 (Brown, J.). The key public equity is that consumers can 

best be protected by an immediate injunction. A failure to hold the assets separate during the 

administrative proceedings would deprive customers of the benefits ofcurrent competition, and even 

worse, would make it difficult to revive competition later because, once LabCorp and Westcliff are 

merged, the "difficulty of 'unscrambl[ing] the merged assets' often precludes 'an effective order of 

divestiture[.F" [d. at 1034 (quoting FTC v. Dean Foods, 384 U.S. 597, 607 n.S (1966); see Elders 

Grain, 868 F.2d at 904. As will be shown, the evidence here demonstrates that the Commission's 

requested relief is squarely "in the public interest." 

II. THE COMMISSION IS LIKELY TO SUCCEED ON THE MERITS OF ITS 
ANTITRUST CHALLENGE TO LABCORP'S ACQU1SmON OF WESTCLIFF 

LabCorp's integration of West cliff will destroy what was, prior to the acquisition, direct and 

substantial head·to·head competition and significantly increase concentration in the already hi~ly 

concentrated market for the sale of capitated clinical laboratory testing services to physician groups 

in Southern California. Section 7 of the Clayton Act, 15 U.S.C. § 18, prohibits any merger or 

acquisition "where in any line of commerce or in any activity affecting commerce in any section of 

the country, the effect of such acquisition may be substantially to lessen competition or. to tend to 

10 
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create a monopoly." Its intent is to arrest the creation of market power in its "incipicncy," and 

accordingly, certainty is not possible or required; rather, Section 7 requires a prediction of the future 

competitive consequences of a merger. United States v. Phi/a. Nat't Bank, 374 U.S. 321,362 

(1963). A merger violates Section 7 if it "create[s] an appreciable danger of [anticompetitive 

consequences] in the future. A predictive judgment, necessarily probabilistic and judgmental rather 

than demonstrable is called for." Heinz, 246 F.3d at 719 (quoting Hosp. Corp. of Am. v. FTC. 807 

F.2d 138), 1389 (7th Cir. 1986»; see Chi. Bridge & Iron Co. v. FTC, 534 F.3d 410, 423 (5th Cir. 

2008). But "[a] certainty, even a high probability, need not be shown," and "doubts are to be 

resolved against the transaction." Elders Grain, 868 F.2d at 906. 

Here, there is sufficient direct evidence, detailed in Section II.B.l.c., infra, of the likely 

anticompetitive consequences of LabCorp's acquisition of West cliff to raise the substantial doubts 

about the transaction required to justify the preliminary relief sought by the FTC. Whole Foods, 548 

F.3d at 1036-37 (Brown, J.) (h!llding "the FTC's chances will not depend, in every case, on a 

threshold matter of market definition"). In the absence of direct evidence of anticompetitive effects, 

courts have usually assessed whether a merger violates Section 7 ofthe Clayton Act by determining: 

(1) the "line of commerce," or relevant product market; (2) the "section of the country," or relevant 

geographic market; and (3) the transaction's probable effect on competition in the relevant product 

and geographic markets. 14 See United States v. J'-farine Bancorp., 418 U.S. 602, 618-23 (1974); Chi. 

Bridge, 534 F.3d at 422-23. Under the traditional analytical framework, the FTC can establish a 

14 Although the traditional framework "for a prima facie § 7 case rests on defining a market and 
showing undue concentration in that market, this analytical structure does not exhaust the possible ways 
10 prove a § 7 violation on the merits, much less the ways to demonstrate a likelihood of success on the 
merits in a preliminary proceeding." Whole Foods. 548 F.3d at 1036 (Brown, J.) (internal citations 
omitted); see generaJiy f'X 0002 at § 4.0 (Fed. Trade Comm'n and U.s. Dep't of Justice, Horizontal 
l..rerger Guidelines (20 10» ("The Agencies' analysis need not start with market definition."). The FTC 
can demonstrate a likelihood of success under either analytical framework. 

II 
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prima facie Section 7 case by demonstrating that the merger would lead to "undue concentration" 

in the market. United States v. Baker Hughes Inc., 908 F.2d 981, 982 (D.C. Cir. 1990). "By 

showing that a transaction will lead to undue concentration in the market for a particular product in 

a particular geographic area, the government establishes a presumption that the transaction will 

substantially lessen competition." Id. (citing United States v. Citizens & s. Nat '/ Bank, 422 U.S. 86, 

120-22 (1975); Phi/a. Nat'J Bank, 374 U.s. at 363). The burden then shifts to the Defendant to 

rebut the presumption of illegality arising from the prima facie case. 1Vhole Foods, 548 F .3d at 1035 

(Brown, J.). This Court need not resolve the ultimate merifs ofthe Defendant's rebuttal case; it need 

only assess whether the Commission has raised "serious, substantial" questions that merit 

preservation of the status quo while the Commission adjudicates the ultimate legality of the 

transaction. ld. (internal quotation omitted). 

A. LabCorp's Acquisition of WestcUff is Presumptively Unlawful 

l. The Relevant Product Market is the Sale of Capitated . CUnical 
Laboratory Testing Services to Physician Groups 

The essence of the detennination of product market is to assess which products are 

reasonable substitutes for each other. The Supreme Court has explained that "[t]he outer boundaries 

of a product market are detennined by the reasonab Ie interchangeability of use or the cross-elasticity 

of demand between the product itself and substitutes for it." Brown Shoe Co. v. United States, 370 

U.S. 294, 325 (1962). This cross·elasticity of demand test compels the "exdu[sion of] any ... 

product to which, within reasonable variations in price, only a limited number of buyers will tum." 

FTC v. eec Holdings, Inc., 605 F. Supp. 2d 26,38 (D. D.C. 2009)(quoting Times-Picayune Pub/'g 

Co. v. United States, 345 U.S. 594, 612 (1953». The product market analysis '''focuses solely on 

demand substitution factors,' i.e., that consumers regard the products as substitutes." Heinz, 246 

FJd at 719 (quoting 1992 Fed. Trade Comm'n and U.S. Dep't of Justi<;e, Horizontal Merger 
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Guidelines § 1.0 (Rev. 1997»; see also PX 0002 at § 4.2 (Fed. Trade Comm'n and U.S. Dep't of 

Justice, Horizontal Merger Guidelines (2010» (hereinafter "Merger Guidelines") (same). 

"Accordingly, the Court must determine whether ... there is reason to find that ifthe [dJefendant[] 

were to raise prices after the proposed merger(], [its J customers would switch to altemative sources 

of supply to defeat the price increase." FTC v. Cardinal Health, IIIC., 12 F. Supp. 2d 34, 46 (D.D.C. 

1998). 

The most comprehensive analytical framework for determining relevant product markets is 

set forth in the Merger Guidelines, which courts have frequently relied upon to inform the inquiry 

regarding the reasonable interchangeability of use or cross-elasticity of demand. Under the Merger 

Guidelines, the proper product market test is whether a profit-maximizing "hypothetical monopolist" 

that was "the only present and future seller" of the candidate product "likely would impose at least 

a small but significant and non-transitory increase in price ("SSNIP")." /1,ferger Guidelines § 4.1.1; 

see Wlwle Foods, ?48 F.Jd at 1038 (Brown, J.); Heinz, 2.46 F.3d at 718. By asking what customers 

would do in the face of a price increase, the hypothetical monopolist test informs the cross-elasticity 

of demand and, ultimately, whether customers are vulnerable to a post-merger price increase. Thus, 

if a SSNIP would not drive consumers to purchase an alternative product (or service), then that 

product (or service) should be excluded from the properly detined relevant market. See Whole 

Foods, 548 F.3d at 1038 (Brown, J.). The Merger Guidelines specify that a 5% SSNIP usually 

should be used for the hypothetical monopolist test. lr.l[erger Guidelines § 4.1.2. 

:I. Physician Groups Have Distinct Requirements for Capita ted 
Clinical Laboratory Services 

Here the relevant product market is the sale of capitated clinical laboratory testing services 

13 
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("laboratory services") to physician groups.' ~ Laboratory services are basic healthcare services upon 

which physicians rely to diagnose, morutor, and treat their patients. Physician groups in Southern 

Calitornia require a vendor of laboratory services that offers, among other things, capitated 

contracts, a comprehensive menu of clinical diagnostic tests, STAT testing capabilities, a network 

ofPSCs that provides convenient access for their patients, a courier network to collect and transport 

specimens, and comprehensive IT capabilities for processing and reporting patient encounter data 

and test results. '6 Quest, LabCorp, and Westcliff are the only vendors of clinical laboratory testing 

services that are able to satisfY all of these requirements for most physician groups in Southern . 

California. 17 

Under the California delegated model of managed care, physician groups are responsible for 

purchasing ancillary services, including clinical laboratory services, for their HMO patients. 

Physician groups almost universally prefer to purchase clinical laboratory services through capitated 

" For simplicity of exposition, it is also appropriate to deftne the market as the sale of clinical 
laboratory services to physician groups. The competitive analysis. however. does not change, since 
physician groups prefer purchasing laboratory services on a capitated basis, and the overwhelming 
majority do so. A very small number have to purchase laboratory services on a fee-for-service basis, as 
the laboratory vendors deem them too small or unattractive to extend capitated tenus. In addition, some 
are afftliated with hospitals that require, or strongly encourage, them to purchase services from the 
hospitals' laboratories at signiftcantly higher fee-for-service prices. In order to compete effectively for 
physician group business, a laboratory must be able 10 offer competitive capitated rates. Competition for 
the limited physician group business that is contracted on a fee-for-service basis does not affect capitated 
rates or the attractiveness of capitaled contra~ting. 

14 
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contracts because they offer several compelling advantages. IS First, capitation allows the physician 

group customer to delegate the financial risk associated with an Wlforeseen increase in utilization 

of laboratory services to the vendor, by paying a fixed per member, per month rate. 19 Second, 

shifting the risk helps to align the financial incentives of the laboratory services vendor with the 

physician group's interest in controlling costs and minimizing medically unnecessary tcsting.20 

Third, capitation allows physician groups to better predict their monthly expenditures for laboratory 

serVices and, therefore, to more effectively manage their budgets.21 Fourth, capitation reduces 

administrative costs for physician groups compared to a fee-for-service model because it eliminates 

the need to verifY and pay invoices for individually ordered, differently priced tests.12 Finally, the 

price that physician group customers pay under capitation is significantly lower than fee-for-service 

prices.23 

Clinical laboratory vendors offer capitated contracts to physician groups at steep discoWlts 

IS Tn a submission to the FTC. the Defendant estimates that 90% of HMO enrollees (and 0% of 
PPO enrollees) in Southern California are covered under capitated laboratory contracts. PX I 148 at I. 

20 
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because they guarantee a fixed monthly revenue stream for all of a physician group's HMO patients 

and provide a significant advantage in securing the more profitable non-HMO referrals from 

individual physicians in the physician group.14 This pull-through business is not paid for by the 

physician group, but by a third-party payer, e.g., a health plan, on a higher-priced fee-for-service 

basis. Although physicians generally are free to refer their non-HMO patients to any laboratory they 

wish, the exclusive capitated laboratory vendor expects, and usually receives, the bulk of the 

physicians' non-HMO referrals, as physicians are often inclined to use a single laboratory out of 

administrative convenience.1S 
. 

b. Contracting on a Fee-for-Service Basis Is Not a Substitute 

Southern California physician groups, almost without exception, choose to contract with 

laboratory service vendors on a capitated basis. Fce-tor-service contracts, with their substantially 

higher prices, greater risk, and other disadvantages, simply are not an economic alternative for these 

customers, and, as a result, physician group customers likely would not substitute fee-for-service 

arrangements for capitated arrangements in response to a 5% SSNIP in their capitation rates.26 

Indeed LabCorp and Westc!iff officials could not identify a single physician group customer that 

has ever switched from contracting on a capitated basis to a fee-for-service basis in response to 

24 PX 7003 at 61 (Aicher Tr.) (explaining why LabCorp may seek capitated business); see also 
PX 70 I 0 at 34-35 (McMahan Tr.) (stating that Westcliff would agree to capitated rates in an attempt to 
obtain the pull-through fee-for-,service business associated with the physicians in the group); _ 
____ Regarding the profitability of non-HMO referrals, see, c.g., PX 7003 at 60 (Aicher Tr.) 
~ fee-for-service business is more lucrative than its capitated business);_ 
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capitated rate increases.27 Accordingly, fee-for-service arrangements do not fall within this relevant 

product market and the sale of capitated laboratory services to physician groups is a separate and 

distinct relevant market in which to assess the effects of the acquisition. See Whole Foods, 548 F.3d 

at 1039 (Brown, 1.) ("After all, market detinition focuses on what products are reasonably 

substitutable; what is reasonable must ultimately be determined by settled consumer preference.") 

(internal citation omitted). 

c. . Hospital Laboratories, Local Laboratories. and Physician In~ 
Office Testing Are Not Viable Alternatives 

For the vast majority of physician groups, hospital outreach laboratories and small local 

laboratories are not viable alternatives because they do not offer the necessary broad array of 

laboratory services, extensive PSC network, or competitive capitation rates.28 fudeed, the few 

physician groups that use hospital laboratories do so because they are required to pursuant to a 

broader affiliation agreement with the hospital. Further, physicians calUlot bring laboratory services 

in-house. While some physicians perform a very limited number of relatively simple diagnostic 

tests in their own office laboratories, e.g., a pregnancy test, they C3lU10t perform the range of tests 

performed by an independent commercial laboratory. Nor would it be a cost-effective or 

competitively viable substitute for a physician group that does not have its own laboratory to 

develop such capabilities, even in the event of a SSNIP in the price of laboratory services.19 

Te.); PX 7003 at 61-62 (Aicher Tr.); 
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d. Physician Groups Are Vulnerable to a Targeted Price Increase 

While laboratory testing services are sold to various groups of customers, including 

individual physicians. hospitals, and health plans, physician groups are a large and easily identifiable 

category of customers that would likely be targeted for price increases if Westcliff is eliminated 

from the market. See Merger Guidelines § 3 ("For price discrimination to be feasible, two 

conditions typically must be met: differential pricing and limited arbitrage."). As such. physician 

groups comprise a class of customers worthy of antitrust protection. See Whole Foods, 548 F.3d at 

1039 (Brown. 1.) (holding that "a core group of particularly dedicated, 'distinct customers,' paying 

'distinct prices,' may constitute a recognizable sub market") (quotation omitted). Physician groups 

are vulnerable to a targeted price increase because they need capitated contracts, and very few 

vendors can ofter those. Physician groups individually negotiate contracts with laboratory vendors, 

which can easily identitY the customers' competitive options based on the groups' characteristics 

and location. This class of customers purchases laboratory services at prices that are distinct from 

those paid by other categories of customers. Nor can a physician group defeat a price increase by 

turning to other purchasers to resell laboratory services, because each test must be individuaUy 

ordered by, and the results reported back to, the treating physician. 

2. The Relevant Geographic Market is Soutbern California 

The relevant geographic market or "section of the country" in which to analyze the etlects 

of the p;oposed acquisition is Southern Califorrua.JO Just as the product market analysis identifies 

JO LabCorp and Quest provide clinical laboratory services nationwide, while Westcliffprimarily 
provides these services in Southern California (Westc1iff also has smaller operations in Northern 
California and Arizona). Southern California is the relevant geographic market in which to assess the 
deal's impact on competition as it is the locus of the competitive overlap between LabCorp and Westcliff 
and is insulated from competitiOn by suppliers located outside the region. 

18 
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